September 25, 2006

BUREAU OF ALCOHOL, TOBACCO,
FIREARMS, AND EXPLOSIVES
(BATFE) MODERNIZATION AND
REFORM ACT OF 2006

Mr. SENSENBRENNER. Mr. Speak-
er, I move to suspend the rules and
pass the bill (H.R. 5092) to modernize
and reform the Bureau of Alcohol, To-
bacco, Firearms, and Explosives, as
amended.

The Clerk read as follows

H.R. 5092

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Rep-
resentatives of the United States of America in
Congress assembled,

SECTION 1. SHORT TITLE.

This Act may be cited as the ‘“‘Bureau of
Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, and Explosives
(BATFE) Modernization and Reform Act of
2006"".

SEC. 2. GRADUATED PENALTIES FOR CIVIL VIO-
LATIONS BY FEDERAL FIREARMS LI-
CENSEES.

(a) IN GENERAL.—Section 923 of title 18,
United States Code, is amended by striking
subsections (e) and (f) and inserting the fol-
lowing:

“(e)(1)(A) If the Attorney General deter-
mines that a licensee under this section has
willfully violated any provision of this chap-
ter or any regulation prescribed under this
chapter, the Attorney General may—

‘(i) if the violation is of a minor nature—

‘(I) impose on the licensee a civil money
penalty of not more than $1,000 for each such
violation, except that the total amount of
penalties imposed on a licensee under this
subclause for violations arising from a single
inspection or examination shall not exceed
$5,000; or

‘“(IT) suspend the license for not more than
30 days, and specify the circumstances under
which the suspension is to be terminated, if,
in the period for which the license is in ef-
fect, there have been at least 2 prior occa-
sions on which the licensee has been deter-
mined to have violated this chapter; or

‘‘(ii) if the violation is of a serious nature—

‘(I) impose on the licensee a civil money
penalty of not more than $2,500 for each such
violation, except that the total amount of
penalties imposed on a licensee under this
subclause for a violations arising from a sin-
gle inspection or examination shall not ex-
ceed $15,000;

‘“(IT) suspend the license for not more than
90 days, and specify the circumstances under
which the suspension is to be terminated;

‘(ITI) revoke the license; or

“(IV) take the actions described in sub-
clauses (I) and (II), or subclauses (I) and (ITII).

“(B)A)I) In determining the amount of a
civil money penalty to impose under sub-
paragraph (A) on a licensee, the nature and
severity of the violation involved, the size of
the firearms business operated by the 1li-
censee, and the prior record of the licensee
shall be considered.

““(IT) On request of the licensee, the Attor-
ney General may consider the ability of the
licensee to pay a civil money penalty, and
may allow the licensee to submit documents
and information to establish the ability of
the licensee to pay. The Attorney General
shall not make part of any public record any
document or information so submitted, and
shall return to the licensee any such docu-
ment or information.

‘“(III) The total amount of penalties im-
posed on a licensee under subparagraph (A)
with respect to violations of a minor nature
and of a serious nature arising from a single
inspection or examination shall not exceed
$15,000.

‘‘(ii) For purposes of subparagraph (A), vio-
lation of a provision of this chapter with re-
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spect to 2 or more firearms during a single
transaction shall be considered a single vio-
lation of the provision.

‘(iii) The Attorney General may defer, or
suspend, in whole or in part, the imposition
of a civil money penalty on a licensee whose
license is suspended under this paragraph.

‘“(C) For purposes of subparagraph (A):

‘(i) A violation of this chapter shall be
considered to be of a serious nature if the
violation—

“(D results in or could have resulted in the
transfer of a firearm or ammunition to a per-
son prohibited from possessing or receiving
the firearm or ammunition under this chap-
ter or under State or local law;

‘“(IT) obstructs or could have obstructed
bona fide criminal investigation or prosecu-
tion, or an inspection or examination under
this chapter; or

‘(III) prevents or could have prevented a
licensee from complying with subsection
(@)(M), (a)®), (b)), (b)(3), (M, (i), (K), (0),
or (p) of section 922, subsection (g)(7) of this
section, or subsection (b) or (h) of section
924.

‘(i) A violation of this chapter shall be
considered to be of a minor nature if the vio-
lation is not of a serious nature.

‘(D) The Attorney General may not com-
mence an enforcement action under subpara-
graph (A) with respect to a violation, after
the 5-year period that begins with—

‘(i) the date the violation occurred; or

‘“(ii) if the licensee intentionally ob-
structed discovery of the violation, the date
the violation is discovered.

““(2)(A) Not less than 30 days before the ef-
fective date of any penalty imposed on a li-
censee by reason of a determination made
under paragraph (1), the Attorney General
shall send the licensee a written notice—

‘(i) of the determination, and the grounds
on which the determination was made;

‘“(ii) of the nature of the penalty; and

‘“(iii) that the licensee may, within 30 days
after receipt of the notice, request a hearing
to review the determination.

‘(B) A hearing to review a determination
made under paragraph (1) with respect to a
licensee shall not be held unless the licensee
requests such a hearing within 30 days after
receiving the notice of the determination
sent pursuant to subparagraph (A).

“(C) On timely receipt from the licensee of
a request for such a review, the Attorney
General shall stay the imposition under
paragraph (1) of any penalty involved, pend-
ing resolution of the review, unless, in the
case of a suspension or revocation of a li-
censee, the Attorney General establishes, at
a hearing before an administrative law
judge, by clear and convincing evidence, that
the continued operation by the licensee of
the business poses an immediate and grave
threat to public safety.

““(3)(A) Within 90 days after timely receipt
from a licensee of a request to review a de-
termination made under paragraph (1) (or at
such later time as is agreed to by the Attor-
ney General and the licensee), an adminis-
trative law judge shall hold a hearing, at a
location convenient to the licensee, to re-
view the determination.

‘“(B) Not less than 30 days before the hear-
ing, the Attorney General shall deliver to
the licensee—

‘“(i) a document identifying each person
whom the Attorney General intends to call
as a witness during the hearing;

‘“(ii) a copy of each document which will be
introduced as evidence at the hearing; and

‘‘(iii) copies of all documents on which the
determination is based.

‘“(C) Within 90 days after the hearing, the
administrative law judge shall issue a writ-
ten decision setting forth findings of fact and
conclusions of law, and a decision as to
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whether to affirm, modify, or reverse the de-
termination.

‘(D) On request of the licensee, the Attor-
ney General shall stay the effective date of
any penalty, suspension, or revocation until
there has been a final, nonreviewable judg-
ment with respect to the determination in-
volved, unless, in the case of a suspension or
revocation of a licensee, the Attorney Gen-
eral establishes, at a hearing before an ad-
ministrative law judge, by clear and con-
vincing evidence, that the continued oper-
ation by the licensee of the business poses an
immediate and grave threat to public safety.

“(E) The action of an administrative law
judge under this subsection shall be consid-

a ered final agency action for all purposes, and
may be reviewed only as provided in sub-
section (f).

‘‘(4) This subsection shall not be inter-
preted to affect the authority of the Attor-
ney General under section 922(t)(5).

“(f)(1) Within 60 days after a party receives
a notice issued under subsection (d)(3) of a
decision to deny a license, or a notice issued
under subsection (e)(3)(C) of a determination
to impose a civil money penalty or to sus-
pend or revoke a license, the party may file
a petition with the United States district
court for the district in which the party re-
sides or has a principal place of business for
a de novo review of the decision or deter-
mination.

‘“(2) In a proceeding conducted under this
paragraph, the court shall, on application of
a party, consider any evidence submitted by
the parties to the proceeding whether or not
the evidence was considered at the hearing
held under subsection (d)(3) or (e)(3).

“(38) If the court decides that the decision
or determination was not authorized, the
court shall order the Attorney General to
take such action as may be necessary to
comply with the judgment of the court.

‘“(4) If criminal proceedings are instituted
against a licensee alleging any violation of
this chapter or of a regulation prescribed
under this chapter, and the licensee is ac-
quitted of the charges, or the proceedings are
terminated, other than upon motion of the
Government before trial on the charges, the
Attorney General shall be absolutely barred
from denying a license under this chapter,
suspending or revoking a license granted
under this chapter, or imposing a civil
money penalty under subsection (e), if the
action would be based in whole or in part on
the facts which form the basis of the crimi-
nal charges.

‘“(5) The Attorney General may not insti-
tute a proceeding to suspend or revoke a li-
cense granted under this chapter, or to im-
pose a civil money penalty under subsection
(e), more than 1 year after the filing of the
indictment or information.”’.

(b) CONFORMING AMENDMENT TO PROCEDURE
APPLICABLE TO DENIAL OF APPLICATION FOR
LICENSE.—Section 923(d) of such title is
amended by adding at the end the following:

‘(3) If the Attorney General denies an ap-
plication for a license, an administrative law
judge of the Department of Justice shall, on
request by the aggrieved party, promptly
hold a hearing to review the denial, at a lo-
cation convenient to the aggrieved party. If,
after the hearing, the administrative law
judge decides not to reverse the denial, the
administrative law judge shall give notice of
the final denial decision to the aggrieved
party.”.

SEC. 3. CONSIDERATION OF FEDERAL FIREARMS
LICENSE APPLICATIONS.

(a) IN GENERAL.—Section 923(d) of title 18,
United States Code, as amended by section
2(b) of this Act, is amended by redesignating
paragraphs (2) and (3) as paragraphs (3) and
(4) and inserting after paragraph (1) the fol-
lowing:



H6954

‘(2) The Attorney General shall make a
preliminary determination as to whether to
approve or deny an application submitted
under subsection (a) or (b). If the prelimi-
nary determination is to deny the applica-
tion, the Attorney General shall notify the
applicant in writing of the preliminary de-
termination and the reasons for the prelimi-
nary determination, and shall afford the ap-
plicant an opportunity to supplement the ap-
plication with additional information and to
request a hearing on the application. If the
applicant, in a timely manner, requests such
a hearing, the Attorney General shall hold
the hearing at a location convenient to the
applicant, and shall notify the applicant in
writing of the time and place of the hear-
ing.”.

(b) CONFORMING  AMENDMENT.—Section
923(f) of such title, as amended by section
2(a) of this Act, is amended by striking
“(d)3)” each place it appears and inserting
A
SEC. 4. DEFINITION OF WILLFULLY.

Section 923(e) of title 18, United States
Code, as amended by section 2(a) of this Act,
is amended by adding at the end the fol-
lowing:

*“(5) For purposes of this subsection, the
term ‘willfully’ means, with respect to con-
duct of a person, that the person knew of a
legal duty, and engaged in the conduct
knowingly and in intentional disregard of
the duty.”.

SEC. 5. ESTABLISHMENT OF FORMAL INSPEC-
TION, EXAMINATION, AND INVES-
TIGATIVE GUIDELINES.

The Attorney General shall establish
guidelines for how the Bureau of Alcohol,
Tobacco, Firearms, and Explosives is to con-
duct inspections, examinations, or investiga-
tions of possible violations of chapters 40 and
44 of title 18, United States Code.

SEC. 6. REVIEW BY THE INSPECTOR GENERAL OF
THE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE OF
THE GUN SHOW ENFORCEMENT
PROGRAM; REPORT.

(a) REVIEW.—The Inspector General of the
Department of Justice shall conduct a re-
view of the operations of the Bureau of Alco-
hol, Tobacco, Firearms, and Explosives, for
the purpose of assessing the manner in which
the Bureau conducts the gun show enforce-
ment program and blanket residency checks
of prospective and actual firearms pur-
chasers.

(b) REPORT.—Not later than 1 year after
the date of the enactment of this Act, the In-
spector General of the Department of Justice
shall submit to the Committee on the Judici-
ary of the House of Representatives and the
Committee on the Judiciary of the Senate a
written report that contains the findings of
the review required by subsection (a), and in-
cludes such recommendations as may be ap-
propriate.

SEC. 7. LIMITATIONS ON USE OF FIREARMS PUR-
CHASER INFORMATION.

Section 923(g)(1)(D) of title 18, United
States Code, is amended in the last sentence
by inserting ‘¢, except that information iden-
tifying a person who has purchased or re-
ceived firearms or ammunition and who is
not prohibited from doing so may not be so
made available or so provided unless the
agency involved has certified that the agen-
cy will not disclose the information to any
entity other than a court, federal, State or
local law enforcement agency, or pros-
ecutor’ before the period.

SEC. 8. LIQUIDATION OF INVENTORY IN FEDERAL
FIREARMS LICENSE EXPIRATION,
SURRENDER, OR REVOCATION
CASES.

Section 923 of title 18, United States Code,
is amended by adding at the end the fol-
lowing:

“‘(m)(1) Except as provided in paragraph
(2), a person whose license issued under this
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chapter is expired, surrendered, or revoked
shall be afforded 60 days from the effective
date of the expiration, surrender, or revoca-
tion to liquidate the firearms inventory of
the person, which time may be extended
upon a showing of reasonable cause. During
such 60-day period (including any extension
of the period), the license involved shall con-
tinue to be considered valid.

‘“(2) Paragraph (1) shall not apply with re-
spect to a person if a United States District
Court for the judicial district in which the
person resides or in which the principal place
of business of the person subject to the li-
cense is located finds, by clear and con-
vincing evidence, that the continued oper-
ation by the person of the business poses an
immediate and grave threat to public safe-
ty.”.

SEC. 9. OPPORTUNITY TO CURE VIOLATIONS
AFTER ACQUISITION OF FIREARMS
BUSINESS.

Section 923 of title 18, United States Code,
is further amended by adding at the end the
following:

‘‘(n) If the Attorney General is made aware
that a business licensed under this chapter
has transferred to a surviving spouse or child
of the licensee, to an executor, adminis-
trator, or other legal representative of a de-
ceased licensee; or to a receiver or trustee in
bankruptcy, or an assignee for benefit of
creditors, and, before the transfer, or on the
first inspection or examination by the Attor-
ney General of the records of the licensee
after the transfer, the licensee is found to be
operating the business in violation of this
chapter, the Attorney General—

‘(1) shall notify the transferee of the viola-
tion by the transferor; and

‘“(2) shall not presume that the transferee
is committing the violation.”.

SEC. 10. STANDARDS FOR CRIMINAL VIOLATIONS
OF RECORDKEEPING REQUIRE-
MENTS.

Section 922(m) of title 18, United States
Code, is amended—

(1) by striking ‘“‘any false entry’’ and in-
serting ‘‘a materially false entry’’;

(2) by striking ‘‘appropriate entry’’ and in-
serting ‘‘a materially significant entry’’; and

(3) by striking ‘‘properly maintain’ and in-
serting ‘‘retain custody of”’.

SEC. 11. AUTHORITY TO COLLECT INFORMATION
ON EXPLOSIVES STORED UNDER
STATE LAW; REGULATIONS GOV-
ERNING STORAGE OF EXPLOSIVES
MADE APPLICABLE TO STORAGE OF
EXPLOSIVES BY AGENCIES OPER-
ATING UNDER STATE LAW.

(a) AUTHORITY TO COLLECT INFORMATION ON
EXPLOSIVES STORED UNDER STATE LAW.—

(1) IN GENERAL.—Section 846 of title 18,
United States Code, is amended by adding at
the end the following:

‘“(c) Each agency operating under the law
of any State or political subdivision thereof
that stores or Kkeeps explosive materials
shall submit to the Attorney General, at
such time as the Attorney General shall pre-
scribe in regulations, a written report that
specifies each location at which the agency
stores or keeps explosive materials that have
been shipped or transported in interstate or
foreign commerce, and the types and
amounts of such explosive materials that are
stored or kept at the location.”.

(2) REGULATIONS.—Within 6 months after
the date of the enactment of this section, the
Attorney General shall prescribe the regula-
tions referred to in section 846(c) of title 18,
United States Code.

(b) REGULATIONS GOVERNING STORAGE OF
EXPLOSIVES MADE APPLICABLE TO STORAGE
OF EXPLOSIVES BY AGENCIES OPERATING
UNDER STATE LAW.—Subpart K of part 555 of
subchapter C of chapter II of title 27, Code of
Federal Regulations, shall apply with re-
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spect to the storage by agencies operating
under the law of any State or political sub-
division thereof of explosive materials that
have been shipped or transported in inter-
state or foreign commerce.

SEC. 12. EFFECTIVE DATE.

This Act and the amendments made by
this Act shall take effect at the end of the
180-day period that begins with the date of
the enactment of this Act.

The SPEAKER pro tempore. Pursu-
ant to the rule, the gentleman from
Wisconsin (Mr. SENSENBRENNER) and
the gentleman from Maryland (Mr. VAN
HOLLEN) each will control 20 minutes.

The Chair recognizes the gentleman
from Wisconsin.

GENERAL LEAVE

Mr. SENSENBRENNER. Mr. Speak-
er, I ask unanimous consent that all
Members may have 5 legislative days
within which to revise and extend their
remarks and include extraneous mate-
rial on H.R. 5092 currently under con-
sideration.

The SPEAKER pro tempore. Is there
objection to the request of the gen-
tleman from Wisconsin?

There was no objection.

Mr. SENSENBRENNER. Mr. Speak-
er, I yield myself such time as I may
consume.

Mr. Speaker, I rise in support of H.R.
5092, the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco,
Firearms, and Explosives Moderniza-
tion and Reform Act of 2006. The bill is
a bipartisan bill aimed at providing
ATF with a full complement of en-
forcement tools needed to ensure com-
pliance by Federal firearms licensees
with Federal regulations.

A series of oversight hearings by the
Crime Subcommittee showed that
ATFEF’S existing enforcement authori-
ties actually hinder its ability to en-
force our Nation’s gun laws and un-
fairly impact Federal firearms licens-
ees. This legislation provides a com-
prehensive response to the concerns
raised in those hearings.

For too many years, ATF has labored
under a restrictive enforcement
scheme which forces the ATF to either
revoke a license or do nothing at all.
This bill would provide ATF with grad-
uated penalties so that licensees will
face the possibility of civil penalty sus-
pensions and the ultimate penalty, rev-
ocation of the license. No longer will
ATF have to try to cajole licensees to
comply or threaten them with heavy-
handed revocation proceedings. With
this measure ATF will be able to seek
a penalty that fits the infraction, de-
pending upon the seriousness of the
violation.

In addition, the bill replaces the ex-
isting adjudicatory system, which con-
sists of former ATF employees who sit
as Administrative Law Judges, with a
professional and neutral staff of ALJs
who will sit and hear enforcement
cases. The bill includes deadlines for
hearings and decisions so that enforce-
ment will be expedited. The bill also
authorizes ATF to shut down licensees
who pose a serious harm to the public.

The bill also remedies a significant
problem of enforcement. ATF has used
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its enforcement authority to threaten
revocation of licenses against gun deal-
ers who make inadvertent or technical
mistakes in their paperwork. The sub-
committee has heard testimony on this
issue, which revealed that ATF treats
virtually all errors in dealers records,
no matter how few or how minor, as
willful violations.

For example, a witness cited that a
licensee received a revocation notice
for writing a ““Y”’ or an ‘“N”’ instead of
writing out ‘“‘yes” or ‘“no” on a fire-
arms transactions form. That does not
make sense. Or in a number of trans-
actions, a revocation notice cited the
failure of a firearm arms purchaser to
identify country of residence, although
the purchaser listed county of resi-
dence.

Such enforcement activities are not
fair to any notion of due process. The
bill clarifies that violations must be
knowing and intentional violations
versus good faith or technical mistakes
in recordkeeping.

I urge my colleagues to vote in favor
of this bipartisan bill, which will im-
prove ATF’s enforcement authorities
and fairness and justice of their treat-
ment of gun dealers

Mr. Speaker, I reserve the balance of
my time.

Mr. VAN HOLLEN. Mr. Speaker, at
the outset, I yield 3% minutes to the
gentleman from Virginia (Mr. SCOTT),
even though he is in support of the bill.

Mr. SCOTT of Virginia. I thank the
gentleman for yielding.

Mr. Speaker, I rise in support of H.R.
5092. I join with the gentleman from
North Carolina, the subcommittee
chairman, Mr. COBLE, in developing
this bill, which will focus on improving
the due process and effectiveness in
ATF enforcement of Federal gun laws
and regulations.

Currently as many as 98 percent of
violations cited by ATF against gun
dealers result in nothing more than a
letter of reprimand or meeting with
ATF officials at their office, backed by
some threats of revocation. There are
complaints, on the one hand, that the
enforcement system treats Federal
firearms licensees unfairly by focusing
too much on minor technical violations
with threats of revocation. So, on the
occasional, though rare, occasion,
where the gun dealer’s license is actu-
ally revoked for what is perceived to be
a minor violation, it generates percep-
tions of unfairness and breeds dis-
respect of the regulatory process.

If a violation is challenged, the sys-
tem perpetuates a further appearance
of unfairness by using ATF employees,
responsible to their supervisors, to de-
cide the case. On the other hand, there
are complaints that ATF is unable to
effectively license the licensees, be-
cause the only available sanction is
revocation, and licensees note they are
unlikely to be revoked for anything
more than a serious violation. There-
fore, they can be casual with a lesser
violation since they are unlikely to re-
ceive anything less than a warning.

CONGRESSIONAL RECORD —HOUSE

H.R. 5092 addresses these problems
with a system of intermediate sanc-
tions, applied on a graduated basis. For
violations the ATF designates as
minor, the bill makes available to the
ATF fines of up to $1,000, with cumu-
lative fines up to $5,000 per inspection
process. After two incidences of minor
violations, suspensions up to 30 days
are available.

For violations designated as serious,
there can be fines up to $2,500 per viola-
tion, up to $15,000 per inspection; and in
addition to such fines, suspensions up
to 90 days or revocation are also avail-
able. The ATF will decide by regula-
tion what constitutes a minor viola-
tion or a major violation. But anything
which actually endangers the public
will count as a major violation.

I would also note that, under the bill,
any violation that results in or could
have resulted in the transfer of a fire-
arm to a prohibited person, or prevents
the dealer from complying with gun
tracing or anything like that, must be
considered a major violation. There-
fore, the suggestion that the bill allows
for unaccounted-for guns to be treated
as a minor violation is not true.

To ensure fairness in the process, the
bill revamps the hearing process by re-
quiring that hearings be conducted by
Administrative Law Judges.

Mr. Speaker, in summary, for minor
violations, virtually all of which are
now treated with just a letter of rep-
rimand or warning, the bill provides for
substantial fines and treats repeat of-
fenders with suspensions and/or addi-
tional fines. For major violations, the
vast majority of which also result only
in a letter of reprimand or a warning,
the bill provides for even more substan-
tial fines, longer suspensions or revoca-
tions. That will result in improved, fair
and meaningful enforcement of our gun
laws.

For that reason, I urge my colleagues
to support the bill.

Mr. VAN HOLLEN. Mr. Speaker, this
bill says that its purpose is to, and I
quote, modernize and reform, unquote,
the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Fire-
arms, and Explosives.

But what it really does, under the
guise of so-called modernization and
reform, is to make it virtually impos-
sible for Federal law enforcement offi-
cers in the ATF to revoke the licenses
of those gun dealers who have violated
the gun laws. It guts their power to go
after the worst offenders.

You don’t have to take my word for
it. Let me just read to you from the
first paragraph of a letter that was
sent to Members of Congress on June 30
of this year:

As former officials of the Bureau of Alco-
hol, Tobacco, Firearms, and Explosives, we
write to urge you to oppose H.R. 5092, the so-
called ATF Modernization and Reform Act.
Far from modernizing ATF, this legislation
would severely undermine the Bureau and
protect corrupt gun dealers and gun traf-
fickers. If passed, this bill would make it ex-
tremely difficult for ATF to successfully
prosecute gun traffickers and dealers who
break the law or to revoke dealers’ licenses.
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They go on to specifically point out
that the requirement that the ATF
prove that a gun trafficker or corrupt
gun dealer not only broke the law, only
specifically intended to break the law,
would make it virtually impossible for
ATF to successfully enforce our Na-
tion’s gun laws. That is signed by a
number of former members of the ATF,
including two of the former directors of
ATF.

Let me also quote from David
DiBetta, who is an 18-year veteran of
the ATF and who is President of the
Federal Law Enforcement Officers As-
sociation’s ATF Division. He said it
very simply: ‘‘It could be crippling.”’

Look, people have said when various
Members of Congress have proposed
new gun safety laws. They have said,
just enforce the laws on the books. And
we need to enforce the laws on the
books. So what is especially troubling
is that we are here today not to in-
crease enforcement of the laws on the
books but to weaken the ability of Fed-
eral law enforcement officers to go
after the worst offenders.

I find it somewhat puzzling that we
are gathered here in what has been
dubbed by some so-called ‘‘Security
September’’ to consider a bill that ties
the hands of Federal law enforcement
officers and gives a break to those few
bad apples among the gun dealers who
sell mostly to the criminal market.
That is what is especially puzzling.

According to the ATF itself, nearly
60 percent of the guns that are sold to
the criminal market are sold by just 1
percent of the gun dealers. The vast
majority of people who are selling guns
in this country are honest, law-abiding
citizens. But this bill isn’t designed to
help them. This bill will help those who
are the worst violators.

In a little bit I am going to go into
how this impacts my State of Mary-
land where the ATF has been trying to
revoke the license of one of the worst
violators. But he ran down here to Cap-
itol Hill to lobby against the ATF offi-
cials, and here we are on the floor. His
voice seems to have a stronger influ-
ence than the voice of so many law en-
forcement officers who are out here, as
well as others.

I will just close this portion with
this. This has also been presented to
us, this bill, as part of the so-called
““American Values Agenda.”” This bill is
part of the American Values Agenda.
And I just want to know, Mr. Speaker,
since when did protecting the worst
violators of the law become part of an
American value?

Mr. Speaker, I reserve the balance of
my time.

Mr. SENSENBRENNER. Mr. Speak-
er, I yield 5 minutes to the gentleman
from North Carolina (Mr. COBLE).

Mr. COBLE. Mr. Speaker, I thank the
gentleman from Wisconsin, chairman
of the full committee.

Mr. Speaker, this bill has been
mischaracterized in many ways since
its inception. The distinguished gen-
tleman from Virginia, Mr. Bobby
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Scott, and I cosponsored this bill. We
have attracted 152 cosponsors, includ-
ing 32 Democrat Members.

I regard this bill, Mr. Speaker, as a
streamlined management tool for ATF.
It, furthermore, creates a revenue
stream. When gun dealers are in fact
found guilty of violations, fines may
now be imposed, creating an incentive,
if for no other reason, to comply with
the law at hand.

I have had some calls from gun deal-
ers around the country complaining
about the bill because they say it opens
the door for them to be the beneficiary
of fines to be imposed against them.
Well, if they commit violations, I
think fines are appropriate and in
order.

I think this is a good bill, as evi-
denced, as I said before, by 152 of our
colleagues who obviously believe it is.
It establishes graduated penalties for
civil violation by Federal firearms li-
censees, it imposes graduated civil pen-
alties, and it includes fines, suspen-
sions and/or revocation against licens-
ees who violate gun laws. The penalties
are graduated based on whether the
violation is a serious or a non-serious
violation. The nature and the severity
of the violation, the size of the fire-
arms business and the prior record for
compliance by these dealers are consid-
ered in determining the civil penalty
imposed.

I think, on balance, it is long over-
due. This addresses an issue that
should have long ago been addressed.
Under the law today, the ATF, in re-
sponse to a gun dealer having com-
mitted a violation, has one of two
choices: He either does nothing or he
revokes.

By the way, Mr. ScoTT and I con-
ducted at least three hearings on this
matter. At one of the hearings, we
learned that a purchaser of a firearm in
response to an answer, and I don’t re-
call whether it was yes or no, but let’s
assume for the sake of discussion it
was no, the purchaser inserted the ini-
tial ‘““N”’ rather than spelling out no.
Well, this was deemed to be a violation.
Technically, I guess it was a violation,
but it was an accidental, incidental
violation. Obviously, there was no will-
fulness involved, nothing for which the
door should be slammed upon a dealer.
I think this bill will provide this sort
of latitude and enlarge the parameters
as the ATF goes about its business of
enforcing the laws of our land.

Finally, I don’t mean to speak for
Mr. ScorT, but I think neither Mr.
ScorT nor I are interested in
hamstringing the ATF. I am pro-ATF,
but I know for a fact that in some in-
stances the ATF agents have become
heavy-handed, maybe even unruly, par-
ticularly in the Virginia situation. So I
think this will address that problem.

I find it very interesting, Mr. Speak-
er, and I have told the chairman this
earlier, the silence has been deafening
as far as response from the ATF. Gun
owners of America, they have not come
to me in opposition to this bill.
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So I want to thank my good friend
from Virginia, Mr. ScoTT, Mr. Vassar
and our very able staff on our side, Mi-
chael and his assistants. We have put
together a good piece of legislation. I
urge its passage

Mr. VAN HOLLEN. Mr. Speaker, I
yield such time as he may consume to
the gentleman from Michigan (Mr.
CONYERS).

Mr. CONYERS. Mr. Speaker, I thank
the distinguished gentleman from
Maryland, who has put so much of his
time and intelligence into an examina-
tion of H.R. 5092, which is called the
‘““Modernization and Reform Act.”

This bill is taken up as the reported
incidence of gun violence continues to
rise. It is truly unfortunate that some
would advance a proposal such as this,
because this measure only threatens to
make a troubling situation even more
problematic.

Earlier this month, the Department
of Justice told us that criminal gun vi-
olence grew by nearly 50 percent be-
tween the years 2004 and 2005. And up
until now, what has been the major-
ity’s response to this growing epi-
demic? Well, simply to take up a bill
that will only lead to an additional in-
crease in the number of illegal firearms
that on a daily basis constantly go on
our streets and communities.

The measure before us, ladies and
gentlemen, promises to all but elimi-
nate the ATF’s current authority to re-
voke the Federal firearms licenses of
corrupt dealers. If enacted, it would
make it virtually impossible for ATF
to shut down rogue gun dealers by ele-
vating current burden of proof require-
ments beyond that of any other major
industry.

So let us understand: This is not
about going after honest firearms deal-
ers, which constitute the majority of
those in the trade. It is not about that.
This is about giving a break to the
rogue dealers.

This is what is a bit disturbing, be-
cause we create in this proposal two
vague classifications of gun laws: the
serious and the non-serious. It allows
for license revocation only for serious
violations. But it, unfortunately, de-
fines these violations in such a way
that enforcement would be extremely
rare.

It excludes many violations that are,
in fact, quite dangerous, such as when
a gun dealer has numerous weapons
lost from its inventory with no record
of sale. The bill would require Alcohol,
Tobacco and Firearms to automati-
cally stay or postpone the imposition
of a fine, a suspension or revocation
pending completion of an administra-
tion hearing, no matter how egregious
the violation.

This standard strongly favors the vi-
olator and should be changed so that
the alleged violator is required to
prove the likelihood of the success of
his challenge, as is the current practice
for most civil proceedings.

Keeping dangerous firearms out of
the hands of violent criminals con-
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tinues to be one of the most pressing
concerns of our Nation. I know some-
body besides me is going to talk about
the newly released data that shows a
total of 3,012 children and teens were
killed by gunfire in the United States
in one year. That roughly comes out to
approximately one child every 3 hours,
eight children every day, and more
than 50 children every week.

This is what we are legislating under
a suspension of the rules. I predict that
this suspension is in big trouble, be-
cause more and more people are listen-
ing to the remarks of the gentleman
from Maryland, who has made it clear
that most of the community that en-
forces gun laws is against this.

Now, let’s look at it globally. Amer-
ican children are more often at risk
from firearm-related injuries and fa-
talities than any other industrialized
nation on the planet. Firearms were re-
portedly used to kill 19 young people in
Great Britain, 57 in Germany, 153 in
France, and a staggering 5,285 children
in the United States.

As a concerned Member of Congress
who serves on this committee, we need
to do more to protect our children, and
not less. To protect our children and
adequately address such problems, we
must empower the ATF with the nec-
essary tools and resources to properly
police unscrupulous firearms dealers.
That is what this measure is about. Un-
fortunately, the proposals contained
therein have taken us in the opposite
direction.

So I conclude by pointing out why I
join in opposition to this measure. Be-
cause the International Brotherhood of
Police Officers is against this measure,
because the International Association
of Chiefs of Police is opposed to this
measure, because the Major Cities
Chiefs of Police is opposed to this
measure, and because the Attorney
General of California and two former
directors of the Bureau are opposed to
this measure.

So I urge my colleagues to let com-
mon sense prevail and let the interests
of our citizens trump the rogue dealers
who have a mysterious way of keeping
losing weapons in their inventory with
no record of sale. We are on to them.
We know what it means. Nobody here
is that naive.

0 1545

So here, ladies and gentlemen, is
going to be a very important test, and
I hope that the majority of those that
will vote on this measure will join me
in causing a defeat in the suspension of
this measure, H.R. 5092.

SEPTEMBER 18, 2006.
HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
Washington, DC.

DEAR REPRESENTATIVE: The Major Cities
Chiefs write to express our strong opposition
to H.R. 5092, the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco,
Firearms and Explosives (ATF) ‘‘Moderniza-
tion and Reform’ Act. This legislation would
have a devastating effect on the ability of
law enforcement to stem the flow of firearms
from lawbreaking gun dealers to violent
criminals.
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H.R. 5092 would make it virtually impos-
sible for ATF to revoke the licenses of gun
dealers who violate federal law. Instead, ATF
would be limited to imposing minimal fines
and temporary suspensions, but only if it
met a new, extraordinary burden of proof
that would make even these meager sanc-
tions incredibly rare. If H.R. 5092 is enacted
into law, ATF’s ability to stop corrupt gun
dealers from supplying firearms to the crimi-
nal market will be crippled.

For example, H.R. 5092 redefines violations
of many of our nation’s gun laws as only
“minor’” violations. License revocation
would be prohibited for these so-called
“minor’” violations, no matter how many
times a dealer violated these federal laws or
how egregious those violations may be. In-
cluded as ‘“‘minor” violations are what are,
in fact, serious violations such as a dealer’s
failure to account for large numbers of fire-
arms missing from its inventory. A dealer
may claim that hundreds or thousands of
weapons have been ‘‘lost,” preventing ATF
from completing a trace of any such guns re-
covered at crime scenes. Missing firearms
also frequently indicate ‘‘off-the-book’ sales
to gun traffickers or felons. Yet H.R. 5092
would remove ATF’s power to revoke the li-
censes of these gun dealers, greatly jeopard-
izing ATF’s ability to enforce federal gun
laws and our ability to use crime gun traces
to protect our communities from illegal
guns.

Another dangerous provision of H.R. 5092
would allow gun dealers whose licenses have
been revoked for violations of federal law to
continue operating for 60 days after revoca-
tion. ATF would have no discretion to waive
this 60-day sales period, even if it found that
a dealer posed a dire threat to public safety.
The idea that ATF would be required by law
to allow a lawbreaking gun dealer to con-
tinue selling guns for 60 days after its license
has been revoked simply makes no sense.

It is not hard to see the devastating effect
that H.R. 5092 would have on law enforce-
ment around the country. Crime gun data
compiled by ATF shows that just 1% of our
nation’s gun dealers supply nearly 60% of all
crime guns. If ATF is unable to revoke the
licenses of corrupt gun dealers, our commu-
nities will continue to be flooded with fire-
arms from these irresponsible gun sellers. It
is imperative that ATF have the power to
stop the flow of guns from, lawbreaking gun
dealers to violent criminals in our cities.

We urge you to stand up for law enforce-
ment and oppose H.R. 5092. Thank you.

Sincerely,
HAROLD L. HURTT,
President,
Major Cities Chiefs.
SEPTEMBER 22, 2006.

DEAR MEMBERS OF CONGRESS: As former of-
ficials of the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco,
Firearms, and Explosives (‘““ATF”’), we write
to urge you to oppose H.R. 5092, the so-called
ATF ‘‘Modernization and Reform Act,”
passed by the House Judiciary Committee on
September 7, 2006. Far from ‘‘modernizing”’
ATF, this legislation would severely under-
mine the Bureau and protect corrupt gun
dealers. If passed, this bill would make it ex-
tremely difficult for ATF to revoke the li-
censes of gun dealers who break the law.

Federal law already impedes ATF’s law en-
forcement powers by requiring it to meet a
heightened burden of proving a ‘‘willful” vio-
lation of federal law to revoke the licenses of
dealers who blatantly break the law. This
“willfulness” standard was imposed by Con-
gress in 1986. To meet this standard for li-
cense revocations, ATF must show that a
dealer was plainly indifferent to known legal
obligations, for example, by proving that the
dealer repeatedly broke the law. See, e.g.,
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Willingham Sports, Inc. v. ATF, 415 F.3d 1274,
1276 (11th Cir. 2005). H.R. 5092 would redefine
the definition of ‘‘willful,” overriding court
rulings on the meaning of this burden of
proof. H.R. 5092 would instead require that
ATF prove a lawbreaker’s specific mental
state and purpose. This requirement that
ATF prove that a corrupt gun dealer not
only broke the law but also specifically in-
tended to break the law would make it vir-
tually impossible for ATF to revoke federal
firearms licenses. There is no reason to pro-
tect lawbreakers, at the expense of public
safety, by requiring such an extraordinary
burden of proof.

H.R. 5092 also redefines most violations of
federal gun laws as ‘“‘minor.” It prohibits li-
cense revocations for such so-called ‘‘minor”
violations, no matter how egregious the vio-
lations. License revocations would be lim-
ited to so-called ‘‘serious’ violations. The
bill excludes from so-called ‘‘serious’ viola-
tions the most common and serious record
keeping violations for which ATF is able to
produce evidence to revoke the licenses of
rogue dealers. Such record keeping viola-
tions include the failure to account for weap-
ons missing from inventory, a dangerous
practice that may be used by a federally li-
censed dealer to mask illegal sales or gun
trafficking. A dealer may claim that hun-
dreds or thousands of weapons have been
“‘lost,” preventing ATF from completing a
trace of any such guns recovered at crime
scenes. H.R. 5092 would remove ATF’s power
to revoke the licenses of such gun dealers,
greatly jeopardizing ATF’s ability to enforce
federal gun laws and protect our commu-
nities from illegal guns.

H.R. 5092 also grants ATF the ability to
impose fines and temporary license suspen-
sions, although it then places such severe
impediments on ATF’s ability to impose
these sanctions as to make them nearly
meaningless. For example, it caps damages
at $15,000 for all ‘‘serious’ violations uncov-
ered by an ATF inspection and $5,000 for
“minor’’ violations. Under H.R. 5092, if ATF
uncovered 5,000 violations at one inspection
because of massive numbers of ‘‘lost’” guns
with no record of sale, it would be limited to
a $5,000 cap in fines, or an average of only a
meager $1 fine per violation. It also requires
stays of fines and temporary license suspen-
sions in most cases, through all administra-
tive hearings and court appeals. This means
that an ATF attempt to impose a few thou-
sand dollars in fines or suspend a license for
a month could be delayed through years of
litigation. It also requires courts to review
ATF administrative findings de novo, requir-
ing courts to reconsider a case without giv-
ing any weight to the findings of an adminis-
trative hearing, and allows a dealer to intro-
duce new evidence in court that was not sub-
mitted at the agency hearing. These proce-
dures simply encourage prolonged litigation
as a way of delaying fines or license suspen-
sion through years of court battles. Instead
of these illogical limits and procedures, ATF
should be allowed to impose real fines and 1li-
cense suspensions without automatic stays
for the most egregious violators.

H.R. 5092 also contains other unreasonable
restrictions on ATF that favor lawbreakers.
It allows even the most dangerous violators
of federal law to continue selling guns for 60
days after they have had their licenses re-
voked or if their licenses expire. ATF should
have the discretion to limit such sales where
they pose a risk to the community and the
nation’s law enforcement officers. The bill
also redefines record keeping requirements
by making it more difficult to sanction deal-
ers who fail to keep proper records of their
firearms. For example, it would end the re-
quirement that dealers keep their records or-
ganized according to long-standing regula-
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tions, instead requiring them simply to keep
‘“‘custody” of such records, in any manner or
method chosen by the dealer. This would
shield rogue dealers by requiring ATF in-
spections to sort through records kept in dis-
array, greatly increasing the cost and length
of inspections and the likelihood that record
keeping violations will not be discovered.
ATF already faces severe constraints in its
ability to crack down on gun dealers who
violate the law. H.R. 5092 would further jeop-
ardize ATF’s ability to enforce the law
against these rogue elements. Instead of en-
acting H.R. 5092, Congress should support
legislation that gives ATF the power to im-
pose fines and license suspensions on gun
dealers who violate the law without extraor-
dinarily high burdens of proof, automatic
stays, and unreasonably low maximum fines.

Stephen Higgins, Director (Ret.) ATF
1982-1993,

Joseph J. Vince, Jr., Chief (Ret), Crime
Gun Analysis Branch, ATF,

Gerald Nunziato, Special Agent in
Charge (Ret), National Tracing Center,
ATF,

Frank Wandell, Special Agent & District
Senior Operations Officer (Ret), ATF,

Rex Davis, Director (Ret.) ATF 1966-1978,

William Vizzard, Special Agent in Charge
(Ret), ATF,

Julius Wachtel, Resident Agent in
Charge (Ret), ATF, Long Beach Field
Office,

Gerald C. Benedict, Special Agent in
Charge, Louisville District (Ret), ATF.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL,
Sacramento, CA.
Re: H.R. 5092.

Hon. F. JAMES SENSENBRENNER, Jr.,
Chairman, House Judiciary Committee, House of
Representatives, Washington, DC.

DEAR CONGRESSMAN SENSENBRENNER: I am
writing to express the strong opposition of
the California Department of Justice to H.R.
5092, which is now pending in the United
States Congress. If H.R. 5092 were to become
law, it would dangerously undermine the
regulation of the nation’s gun dealers on
both the state and federal level.

H.R. 5092 would eviscerate the ability of
the federal Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Fire-
arms and Explosives (ATF) to regulate feder-
ally licensed firearms dealers (FFLs). Under
H.R. 5092, ATF would only be able to revoke
a license when it proved that a dealer ‘‘will-
fully’”’ committed a ‘‘serious’ violation. Only
three types of violations would be classified
as ‘‘serious’ under H.R. 5092. All other fire-
arms and weapon offenses (including the im-
portation, possession or sale of a machine
gun; possession of a firearm without a serial
number; possession of a bomb, grenade, rock-
et or missile) would be considered ‘‘non-seri-
ous.”

H.R. 5092’s distinction between ‘‘serious”
and ‘‘non-serious’ violations would undercut
the enforcement of state laws, as well as fed-
eral laws. Federal law makes it a felony to
sell a firearm in violation of a state law [18
U.S.C. §922(b)(2)]. For example, it is a crime
for an FFL to sell a rifle to a California resi-
dent that is considered an assault weapon
under California law. Under current law, the
dealer would be subject not only to criminal
prosecution, but also FFL revocation for the
offense. Under H.R. 5092, ATF would be un-
able to revoke a dealer’s license for failure
to comply with state law because that crime
would not be considered a ‘‘serious’ viola-
tion.

Even ‘‘serious’ violations by firearms deal-
ers would rarely result in license revocation.
H.R. 5092 would require that in order to re-
voke an FFL, ATF would have to prove that
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the dealer deliberately intended to commit
the ‘“‘serious’ violation. Current law allows
ATF to revoke a federal firearms license in
cases where a dealer ‘‘willfully” violates a
provision of the Gun Control Act of 1968, or
any rule or regulation issued pursuant to the
Act. (18 U.S.C. §923(e).) A person commits a
willful violation when the person knows of
his legal duty, and disregards or is plainly
indifferent to that duty. (Perri v. Depart-
ment of the Treasury, 637 F.2d 1332, 1336 (9th
Cir. 1981).)

H.R. 5092 redefines the term ‘‘willfully” in
a radical manner that conflicts with com-
mon sense and legal precedent. While
Merriam-Webster’s Dictionary of Law de-
fines the term ‘“‘willful” to mean ‘‘not acci-
dental: done deliberately or knowingly and
often in conscious violation or disregard of
the law, duty, or the rights of others,” H.R.
5092 gives it a completely different meaning:
“intentionally, purposely, and with the in-
tent to act in violation of a known legal
duty.”

By redefining a familiar, accepted and
well-established term, H.R. 5092 would make
it virtually impossible for ATF to shut down
rogue gun dealers, even when their viola-
tions are numerous, repeated, or linked to
crimes involving guns. The standard to prove
a ‘‘willful” violation is unprecedented in ad-
ministrative law and more difficult to prove
the mental state required in most criminal
prosecutions. I am aware of no other federal
regulatory agency that is held to such a high
standard in its attempt to regulate licensees.

The only sanction for ‘‘non-serious’ viola-
tions under H.R. 5092 would be temporary
suspension and fines, even when the viola-
tions are numerous and repeated. The fines
set by H.R. 5092 appear to be much lower
than fines set in administrative schemes for
other licensees. Fines can only be assessed
by ATF, furthermore, for ‘‘willful”’ wviola-
tions of ‘“‘non-serious’ provisions.

For these reasons, and many others, H.R.
5092 would directly and negatively affect the
State of California. The Firearms Division of
California DOJ works closely and collabo-
ratively with ATF to monitor firearms deal-
ers in the state for compliance with state
and federal laws. California DOJ inspectors
notify ATF when they observe dealers who
are in violation of federal law and are like-
wise notified when ATF agents observe state
violations. Our ability to monitor dealers in
the state will be compromised if ATF’s au-
thority to enforce federal law is weakened.

At a time when it is paramount for law en-
forcement agencies to work collaboratively
to combat the threat of terrorism, it is out-
rageous that legislation would be proposed
to hamper law enforcement cooperation.
Without any evidence that ATF has abused
its ability to revoke FFLs, it is outrageous
to propose gutting that power. In fact, H.R.
5092 undercuts the fundamental rationale for
the Gun Control Act of 1968: ‘‘to provide sup-
port to Federal, State, and local law enforce-
ment officials in their fight against crime
and violence.”” Therefore, I urge you in the
strongest terms to reject it.

Sincerely,
BILL LOCKYER,
Attorney General.

LAW ENFORCEMENT OPPOSITION TO H.R. 5092,
THE BUREAU OF ALCOHOL, TOBACCO, FIRE-
ARMS AND EXPLOSIVES (ATF) MODERNIZA-
TION AND REFORM ACT

U.S. CONGRESS,
The Capitol,
Washington, DC:

The undersigned law enforcement organi-
zations/association and law enforcement ex-
ecutives represent law enforcement officers
who are actively engaged in providing law
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enforcement, public safety and homeland se-
curity services in the United States. We are
writing to join with the Major City Chiefs
Association to express our strong opposition
to H.R. 5092, the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco,
Firearms and Explosives (ATF) ‘“‘Moderniza-
tion and Reform’ ACT. This legislation
would have a devastating effect on the abil-
ity of law enforcement to stem the flow of
firearms from lawbreaking gun dealers to
violent criminals.

H.R. 5092 would make it virtually impos-
sible for ATF to revoke the licenses of gun
dealers who violate federal law. Instead, ATF
would be limited to imposing minimal fines
and temporary suspensions. but only if it
met a new, extraordinary burden of proof
that would make even these meager sanc-
tions incredibly rare. If H.R. 5092 is enacted
into law, ATF’s ability to stop corrupt gun
dealers from supplying firearms to the crimi-
nal market will be crippled.

For example. H.R. 5092 redefines violations
of many of our nation’s gun laws as only
“minor’” violations. License revocation
would be prohibited for these so-called
“minor” violations, no matter how many
times a dealer violated these federal laws or
how egregious those violations may be. In-
cluded as ‘“‘minor’’ violations are what are,
in fact, serious violations such as a dealer’s
failure to account for large numbers of fire-
arms missing from its inventory. A dealer
may claim that hundreds or thousands of
weapons have been ‘‘lost,” preventing ATF
from completing a trace of any such guns re-
covered at crime scenes. Missing firearms
also frequently indicate ‘‘off-the-book’ sales
to gun traffickers or felons. Yet H.R. 5092
would remove ATF’s power to revoke the li-
censes of these gun dealers, greatly jeopard-
izing ATF’s ability to enforce federal gun
laws and our ability to use crime gun traces
to protect our communities from illegal
guns.

Another dangerous provision of H.R. 5092
would allow gun dealers whose licenses have
been revoked for violations of federal law to
continue operating for 60 days after revoca-
tion. ATF would have no discretion to waive
this 60-day sales period, even if it found that
a dealer posed a dire threat to public safety.
The idea that ATF would be required by law
to allow a lawbreaking gun dealer to con-
tinue selling guns for 60 days after its license
has been revoked simply makes no sense.

It is not hard to see the devastating effect
that H.R. 5092 would have on law enforce-
ment around the Country. Crime gun data
compiled by ATF shows that just 1% of our
nation’s gun dealers supply nearly 60% of all
crime guns. If ATF is unable to revoke the
licenses of corrupt gun dealers, our commu-
nities will continue to be flooded with fire-
arms from these irresponsible gun sellers. It
is imperative that ATF have the power to
stop the flow of guns from lawbreaking gun
dealers to violent criminals in our cities.

We urge you to stand up for law enforce-
ment and oppose H.R. 5092. Thank you.

Major City Chiefs Association.

International Brotherhood of Police Offi-
cers.

National Black Police Association.

School Safety Advocacy Council.

National Latino Police Officers Associa-
tion.

Minnesota Association of Chiefs of Police.

Michigan Association of Chiefs of Police.

Chief R. Gil Kerlikowske, Seattle Police
Department, Seattle, WA.

Commissioner Sylvester Johnson, Phila-
delphia Police Department, Philadelphia,
PA.

Chief Scott Knight, Chaska Police Depart-
ment, Chaska, MN.

Michael J. Chitwood, Superintendent of
Police, Upper Darby Township Police De-
partment, Upper Darby, Pa.
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Chief Michael J. Carroll, West Goshen
Township Police Department, West Chester,
Pennsylvania, 4th Vice President, Inter-
national Association of Chiefs of Police.

Mark L. Whitman, Police Commissioner,
York, PA, IACP General Chair, State Asso-
ciations of Chiefs of Police.

Curtis S. Lavarello, Executive Director,
School Safety Advocacy Council, Sarasota,
FL.

Mr. VAN HOLLEN. Mr. Speaker, let
me thank my colleague from Michigan,
the ranking member of the Judiciary
Committee, Mr. CONYERS, for his lead-
ership on this and for pointing out the
law enforcement agencies that are op-
posed to this important legislation and
in favor of the arguments that we put
forth in opposition. And, again, I just
cite from David DiBetta, who is the
president of Federal Law Enforcement
Officers Association ATF division, who
said: ‘“This bill would be crippling to
their efforts to enforce our gun laws.”

INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHOOD OF
POLICE OFFICERS,
Alexandria, VA, September 20, 2006.
U.S. CONGRESS,
Washington, DC.

DEAR REPRESENTATIVE: The International
Brotherhood of Police Officers (IBPO). rep-
resenting federal, state and local police offi-
cers around the country, strongly opposes
H.R. 5092, the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco,
Firearms and Explosives (ATF) ‘‘Moderniza-
tion and Reform’ Act. This senseless legisla-
tion would serve only to cripple law enforce-
ment’s ability to track and prevent the flow
of illegal guns across the country.

H.R. 5092 diminishes the ATF’s ability to
revoke, suspend or fine gun dealers by unnec-
essarily raising the standard of proof re-
quired for adverse action from federal inves-
tigators against gun dealers who blatantly
violate federal law regulating the sale and
transfer of guns.

In addition, H.R 5092 reclassifies serious
violations of federal gun to lesser or ‘‘minor”’
violations resulting in negligent or criminal
dealers being held to a lower standard, and
in some cases, giving them a free ride be-
cause guns claimed as ‘‘lost” from their in-
ventory would be impossible to trace if re-
covered at a crime scene.

Another shameless provision of H.R. 5092
would allow gun dealers whose licenses have
been revoked for violations of federal law to
continue operating for 60 days after revoca-
tion. The ATF would have to allow these
negligent or criminal gun dealers to con-
tinue to sell guns for 60 days after issuing a
revocation.

The IBPO stands strongly against H.R. 5092
because of its detrimental effects to proven,
successful crime fighting tools used by fed-
eral agents and local police. A vote for H.R.
5092 in any form is a vote against police offi-
cers and it’s a vote against the safety of our
communities. H.R. 5092 serves no justifiable
purpose to law enforcement or legitimate
gun owners.

We urge you to vote against this unneces-
sary and dangerous legislation.

Respectfully,
STEVE LENKART,
Director of Legislative Affairs.
AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION,
GOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS OFFICE,
Washington, DC, September 25, 2006.

DEAR REPRESENTATIVE: We understand
that the House of Representatives will soon
consider H.R. 5092, the Bureau of Alcohol,
Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives
(“BATFE”) Modernization and Reform Act
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of 2006. I am writing on behalf of the Amer-
ican Bar Association to express, our opposi-
tion to this legislation and to urge you to
vote against it.

H.R. 5092 would restructure BATFE revoca-
tion powers regarding federal gun dealer li-
censing and create a new administrative
process for review of gun dealer violations of
federal law. Foremost among our concerns
among the proposed changes to current law
contained in H.R. 5092 is that regarding the
standard of proof required in civil penalty
proceedings brought against defendant gun
dealers. H.R. 5092 would amend the current
standard of ‘‘willful”’ misconduct to require
proof that a defendant in acting willfully
acted ‘‘intentionally, purposely, and with
the intent to act in violation of a known
legal duty.” This latter standard is excep-
tionally high for a civil penalty proceeding
and has been generally limited only to crimi-
nal prosecutions of complex and arcane tax
laws. See Cheek v. U.S., 498 U.S. 192, 199
(1991). Penalty proceedings in this area of
law are currently rare and involve violations
of laws that are not complex. We do not be-
lieve there is a demonstrable reason to
change the current ‘‘willful” standard of
proof.

We are also concerned with the proposed
new regulatory scheme in H.R. 5092 that
would creates a range of new non-criminal
penalties. H.R. 5092 would replace BATFE
revocation of federal licenses in most in-
stances with a new regime of minor fines and
temporary license suspensions. Its proposed
provisions are particularly troubling in re-
gard to offenses often related to illegal gun
trafficking. It would limit fines for viola-
tions from a single inspection or examina-
tion to minimal amounts no matter how
many guns are ‘‘missing’”’ from inventory
records and unaccounted for. Furthermore,
multiple gun sales violations—often incident
to illegal gun trafficking—would only result
under H.R. 5092 in a maximum fine of $15,000,
an amount too modest to deter crime.

We remain concerned that, despite bipar-
tisan efforts to moderate key provisions in
H.R. 5092 during its consideration by the Ju-
diciary Committee, H.R. 5092 would unduly
weaken BATFE oversight of federal gun
dealers. We believe the proposed new stand-
ard of proof for penalty proceedings brought
against gun dealers and the new administra-
tive regime proposed in H.R. 5092 would
make actions against rogue or corrupt gun
dealers too difficult and would weaken the
agency’s oversight role.

For these reasons, we urge you to vote
against H.R. 5092.

Sincerely,
ROBERT D. EVANS.
BRADY CAMPAIGN—TO PREVENT GUN
VIOLENCE

HOW H.R. 5092 WOULD PROTECT CORRUPT GUN
DEALERS AND WEAKEN FEDERAL GUN LAWS

H.R. 5092, the so-called Bureau of Alcohol,
Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (ATF)
““Modernization and Reform Act,” would un-
dermine law enforcement and protect cor-
rupt gun dealers. The bill would make it vir-
tually impossible for ATF to revoke the li-
censes of gun dealers who violate federal law.

The problem of rogue gun dealers is vividly
illustrated by National Rifle Association
Board Member Sanford Abrams, operator of
Valley Gun shop of Baltimore, Maryland.
Valley Gun violated federal law over 900
times, and after nearly a decade of viola-
tions, ATF was family able to revoke its fire-
arms license. The U.S. Department of Jus-
tice called Valley Gun an ‘‘irresponsible gun
shop’ that has engaged in ‘‘dangerous oper-
ations” as a ‘‘serial violator’ of federal gun
laws.

CONGRESSIONAL RECORD —HOUSE

Under H.R. 5092, in cases like Abrams’
where an irresponsible dealer was serially
violating federal gun laws, the burden im-
posed by the legislation to show ‘‘willful-
ness’’—defined in the bill as requiring a spe-
cific intent to break the law—would make 1i-
cense revocation nearly impossible. Because
the bill imposes the same new definition of
“willfulness” for fines and suspensions, those
lesser remedies would be unrealistic as well
and, in any event, could be delayed through
years of legal appeals.

H.R. 5092 CHANGES THE DEFINITION OF A ‘‘WILL-

FUL” VIOLATION OF FEDERAL LAW TO PRO-

TECT CORRUPT GUN DEALERS (SECTION 4)

Federal law currently places severe re-
straints on ATF’s ability to revoke licenses
from gun dealers who break the law. Even
though ATF inspections often reveal scores
of illegal acts by gun dealers, ATF rarely is
able to revoke a dealer’s federal firearms li-
cense. In 2003, ATF inspectors found viola-
tions at 1,812 gun dealers, averaging over 80
violations per dealer. Despite this large
number of dealers with multiple violations,
ATF issued license revocation notices for
only 54 dealers that year.

ATF’s limited ability to revoke licenses of
lawbreaking gun dealers is due, in part, to
the overly burdensome requirement that
ATF prove a dealer ‘“‘willfully’ violated the
law. Courts have defined ‘‘willfulness’ as re-
quiring proof that the dealer not only broke
the law but also knew that his or her con-
duct was unlawful. Yet H.R. 5092 would make
it even more difficult to revoke the licenses
of gun dealers who break the law by chang-
ing the current legal definition of ‘‘willful-
ness’”’ to require that ATF prove that a law-
breaker not only knew of the requirements
of the law and broke the law, but also spe-
cifically intended to violate the law. H.R.
5092’s requirement that ATF prove a
lawbreaker’s specific mental state and pur-
pose would present a nearly insurmountable
burden. This dangerous provision is contrary
to Supreme Court precedent and would crip-
ple ATF’s ability to enforce firearms laws.
H.R. 5092 REDEFINES MANY SERIOUS FEDERAL

GUN CRIMES TO BE ‘‘MINOR’’ VIOLATIONS AND

PROHIBITS DEALER LICENSE REVOCATION FOR

THESE CRIMES (SECTION 2)

H.R. 5092 re-classifies federal gun laws as
‘“‘serious’” and ‘‘minor,” and allows license
revocation only for so-called ‘‘serious,” will-
ful violations. So-called ‘‘serious’ violations
would be rare and would exclude many viola-
tions that are extremely dangerous, such as
when a dealer has ‘‘lost’” numerous weapons
from its inventory with no record of sale.
Even so-called ‘“‘minor’ violations would be
nearly impossible to prove, as these also
would require proof of a specific intent to
break the law. For example, ATF occasion-
ally revokes licenses of dealers who fail to
maintain records for hundreds or thousands
of guns. Without proper records, any such
guns recovered in crime would be virtually
untraceable, severely hindering law enforce-
ment’s ability to solve gun crimes. Yet it
would be nearly impossible for ATF to prove
that a dealer failed to maintain records with
the specific intent to break the law, as this
bill requires.

H.R. 5092 ALLOWS ATF TO IMPOSE MEAGER FINES
AND TEMPORARY LICENSE SUSPENSIONS, BUT
ONLY IF IT MEETS A NEARLY INSURMOUNT-
ABLE BURDEN OF PROOF AND ONLY AFTER
LENGTHY DELAYS FAVORING LAWBREAKERS
(SECTION 2)

H.R. 5092 would allow ATF to impose fines
up to $5,000 for so-called ‘“‘minor’’ violations
of federal law and $15,000 for ‘‘serious’ viola-
tions, but only if ATF proves a dealer spe-
cifically intended to violate the law, making
it unlikely that ATF could impose any fines
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at all. This maximum fine applies to all vio-

lations uncovered at an inspection, no mat-

ter how many occurred. For example, ATF
recently revoked the license of Trader

Sports, a San Leandro, California gun dealer

that supplied hundreds of guns to criminals.

ATF found 7,477 firearms unaccounted for

and dozens of other violations at Trader

Sports, but under H.R. 5092 the maximum

possible fine would be $15,000, or an average

fine of only a few dollars per violation. In
comparison, the Consumer Product Safety

Commission can impose fines on sellers of

most unsafe consumer products of $8,000 per

violation, up to a maximum of $1,825,000.

The bill also allows license suspension of
up to 30 days for so-called ‘‘minor’ viola-
tions and 90 days for ‘‘serious’ violations.
The bill would require proof of a specific in-
tent to violate the law in order to suspend a
license, however, making it unlikely that
ATF could meet this difficult burden. More-
over, suspensions could only be imposed for
so-called ‘“‘minor’” violations after a gun
dealer violated federal gun laws on two prior
occasions.

The bill would require ATF to stay (post-
pone) a fine, suspension or revocation
through administrative hearings and years
of possible court appeals, in most cases. It
also requires courts to review ATF adminis-
trative findings de novo, giving no weight to
administrative judges’ findings, rendering
the administrative process largely meaning-
less and a waste of resources.

H.R. 5092 ALLOWS GUN DEALERS WHO VIOLATE
FEDERAL LAW TO CONTINUE SELLING GUNS
EVEN AFTER THEY HAVE HAD THEIR LICENSES
REVOKED (SECTION 8)

H.R. 5092 would allow dealers who violate
federal gun laws to continue selling guns for
60 days after they have had their license re-
voked for willful violations of federal gun
laws or after their federal firearms license
expires, even if they pose a dire threat to
public safety. This makes a mockery of li-
cense revocation by allowing dealers to
evade revocation and continue operating
even though they committed federal crimes,
and allows dealers to temporarily avoid re-
newing licenses as currently required by fed-
eral law.

H.R. 5092 PROTECTS GUN DEALERS WHO FAIL TO
KEEP TRACK OF THEIR GUNS (SECTION 10)

H.R. 5092 redefines federal law to make it
more difficult to sanction dealers who fail to
keep proper records of their firearms and al-
lows dealers to keep records in disarray. If
dealers are not required to properly main-
tain records, it makes it much more difficult
for ATF to determine if firearms are missing
or if the dealer is failing to keep proper
records of firearm transactions. This provi-
sion would allow dealers to attempt to hide
missing firearms by maintaining records in
disarray, but still in their ‘‘custody.”” For ex-
ample, a dealer who had been in business for
50 years could simply throw all of its files in
a back room, maintaining ‘‘custody’’ of them
but making it very difficult for ATF to audit
the dealer’s records to discover violations.

VIOLENCE PoLICY CENTER,
Washington, DC, September 22, 2006.

Hon. JOHN CONYERS,

House of Representatives,

Washington, DC.

DEAR REPRESENTATIVE CONYERS: The Vio-
lence Policy Center (VPC) urges you to op-
pose H.R. 5092. This dangerous legislation
will only make it harder to crack down on il-
legal gun trafficking—even as new Depart-
ment of Justice statistics show a steep in-
crease in gun crime. H.R. 5092 is scheduled
for House floor consideration under suspen-
sion of the rules on Monday, September 25,
2006.

H.R. 5092 will turn Supreme Court prece-
dent on its head by significantly increasing
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the burden of proof required to revoke the li-
cense of a corrupt gun dealer by changing
the definition of ‘“‘willfulness’ as it applies
to revocation proceedings. Section 4 of the
bill would establish a definition of ‘‘willful-
ness’’ that would operate as an ‘‘ignorance of
the law’’ excuse for corrupt gun dealers.

This major weakening of current law will
make it much more difficult to stop illegal
gun trafficking since corrupt gun dealers are
the number one source of illegally trafficked
firearms according to the Bureau of Alcohol,
Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives’ 2000 re-
port Following the Gun.

The Supreme Court stated in Bryan v.
U.S., 534 U.S. 184 (1998) that a ‘‘willfulness”
standard that excuses ignorance of the law
only applies in the context of highly tech-
nical tax code and cash reporting violations
that present ‘‘the danger of ensnaring indi-
viduals engaged in apparently innocent con-
duct.” The court found such a heightened
standard to be unnecessary and inappro-
priate in the context of illegal gun traf-
ficking.

Rather than making it easier for corrupt
dealers to skirt the law, the focus should be
on stopping illegal gun trafficking. The Vio-
lence Policy Center urges you to oppose H.R.
5092.

Sincerely,
M. KRISTEN RAND,
Legislative Director.

Mr. Speaker, I yield 5 minutes to the
gentlewoman from New York (Mrs.
McCARTHY) and thank her for her lead-
ership on this very important matter.

Mrs. McCARTHY. Mr. Speaker, 1
have to say, in my 10 years in Congress
I have never seen a bill with a more
misleading name than this legislation.
Instead of modernizing or reforming
the ATF, it makes it tougher for ATF
to crack down on illegal guns. I know
the vast majority of gun sellers are
honest, and we know that. But why
does Congress feel the need to protect
the small minority who sell guns ille-
gally?

This legislation ties the hands of the
ATF in its dealings with 1 percent, you
have heard that figure before, 1 per-
cent. Why aren’t we going after that 1
percent? I know the mayor of New
York has been trying to go after that 1
percent, because in New York that is
where the illegal guns are coming
from, this 1 percent, and they are Kkill-
ing our police officers, they are Killing
our citizens. And you wonder why some
of us get so up in arms about this.

We should be giving the ATF the
tools to crack down on these illegal
guns. The bill relaxes recordkeeping re-
quirements by no longer requiring
dealers to properly maintain the
records. Not maintaining the records.
Again, it was said by my colleague that
we should be enforcing the laws on the
books. All of us agree on that, and
there is not one of us that is trying to
take away the right of someone to own
a gun. But, again, the NRA comes down
here, and we hear on how many people
have signed on to this bill. Actually,
more than that will be there because
they are petrified of the NRA. Why?
Because the NRA will organize their
members and basically just go after
that Member if they dare to vote
against them.
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But even if the ATF is able to revoke
a corrupt unlicensed dealer, this bill
gives the dealer 60 days to sell off the
remaining inventory. How crazy is
that? You know, we hear constantly
that we are after DWI drivers all the
time. And if a tavern is proven to be
selling constantly to underage drivers,
they lose their license. They don’t have
any time to sell off all their liquor. I
mean, let’s have a little common sense
here. I mean, we seem to be going
backwards constantly in going forward
in trying to protect our police officers
and certainly our front liners out
there.

Proponents of this bill will tell you
that it is to protect honest gun sellers
who are unfairly targeted by the ATF.
I don’t know why the gun dealers
aren’t standing up and saying let’s go
after these unscrupulous gun dealers.
They are the ones who are giving them
the bad name. The current law already
protects honest dealers.

In fact, while the ATF regularly un-
covers illegal acts of gun dealers, it is
very rare that it is able to revoke their
license. In fact, and the last we have is
from 2003, the ATF found violations at
more than 1,800 gun dealers in 2003. The
ATF found an average of 80 violations.
That is not an overlook, 80 violations,
that is someone that is committing a
crime at these gun dealers, but only
issued license revocation notifications
at 54.

The ATF is doing its job. It is look-
ing at who the bad guys are and going
after them. It is clear that only the
worst violators lose their licenses.
Every gun dealer who acknowledges
selling a gun to a criminal reflects
poorly on the entire gun industry. It is
in the best interests of the gun indus-
try that dishonest and negligent sellers
are forced to shut their doors. This is a
misguided piece of legislation that al-
lows a small minority of corrupt gun
sellers to continue to sell guns to
criminals without penalties.

You know, we are starting to see
crime go up continuously in our small
communities, in our cities. We are see-
ing guns flooding our streets; we see
gangs being able to buy guns illegally.
Where are they coming from? Where
are they coming from? Our police de-
partments are seeing statistics going
up constantly, and especially from 2005
to 2006. We have seen more police offi-
cers die in the line of duty killed by il-
legal guns. Why aren’t we doing some-
thing to crack down on the illegal
guns? That is what this country should
be doing; that is what this Congress
should be doing, and not certainly
backing down to the NRA because we
have an election coming up. This is
juice for all their members. It is crazy.

You know, this debate on gun vio-
lence certainly since I have been here
has gone backwards and backwards and
backwards. We talk about how many
people have died every year because of
gun violence. A lot of that is accidental
deaths, a lot of those are certainly
guns that people have in their homes.
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No one even talks about the sur-
vivors, how it is costing this health
care system over $1 billion a year be-
cause of gun violence. We can do a bet-
ter job. We should be doing a better
job.

Mr. VAN HOLLEN. Mr. Speaker, I
urge opposition to the bill.

Mr. KING of New York. Mr. Speaker, | rise
today in opposition to H.R. 5092 the Bureau of
Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, and Explosives
(BATFE).

We have been granted the right to bear
arms; however, this right is granted to those
who can operate safely and responsibly within
the auspices of the law. Those who cannot
operate within the law should not be given
greater opportunities to obtain weapons. Rath-
er than address this problem, this legislation
actually weakens our current law, and makes
it easier for dangerous weapons to get into the
hands of criminals. Instead of weakening cur-
rent law, we should be giving law enforcement
better tools to combat gun trafficking.

According to a 2000 ATF report, corrupt gun
dealers are the number one source of illegal
firearm trafficking. With that information, we
should be working to impose tighter measures
and better law enforcement, so that we can
protect innocent Americans who often fall vic-
tim to crimes caused by firearm abuse. In-
stead, H.R. 5092 does just the opposite by
sympathizing with the gun dealer and adding
obstacles to law enforcement.

Under current law, the ATF can punish gun
dealers for illegal gun sales. H.R. 5092 makes
punishment more difficult. In addition, this bill
would prohibit the ATF from considering large
amounts of “lost” firearms as a violation of
law. It is this same type of “lost inventory” that
armed the DC sniper.

It is important that we give our law enforce-
ment agents the proper tools to end gun traf-
ficking, not make it more difficult. It is unthink-
able to me to support any type of legislation
that favors the rights of criminals over the pro-
tection of our friends and family. Finally, |
would like to commend Mayor Mike
Bloomberg for his dedication to this issue and
his opposition to this legislation. | also oppose
H.R. 5092, and | encourage my colleagues to
do the same.

Ms. WATSON. Mr. Speaker, | rise in opposi-
tion to H.R. 5092. This bill does not protect
small businesses. In fact, it victimizes them,
and the general public, because it would make
it more difficult for the Federal government to
shut down the rogue gun dealers who are
arming the gangs that plague our neighbor-
hoods.

Mr. Speaker, the vast majority of American
gun dealers are legitimate businesspeople.
They play by the rules, and deserve to have
their government support them rather than
harass them. The problem is that H.R. 5092
doesn’t protect legitimate gun dealers. In fact,
there is absolutely no evidence that legitimate
gun dealers are falling victim to an over-
zealous Federal government.

In reality, H.R. 5092 is a giveaway to those
few gun dealers who just can’t be bothered to
comply with the law. As such, H.R. 5092
doesn’t help average, law-abiding gun dealers.
Instead, it puts them at a disadvantage to the
few bad actors who see dollar signs in the
carnage that plagues our neighborhoods.

Most gun dealers know that they have a
unique responsibility to make sure their prod-
ucts do not fall into the wrong hands. And so,
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they put in the extra effort to make sure they
keep track of the guns in their inventory. But
why should any small businessperson put in
the effort to comply with their responsibilities if
the Federal government cannot shut down the
guy across the street who acts irresponsibly?
Why would anyone take the time and expense
to do the right thing if they are going to be run
out of business by the few bad apples doing
the wrong thing?

This is the danger we face if H.R. 5092 be-
comes law. This law will not protect law-abid-
ing gun dealers. In fact, it will make them vic-
tims of the lawbreakers, by tying the hands of
the hard-working Federal agents who work to
keep illegal guns off our streets. | urge my col-
leagues to vote “no” on H.R. 5092, and pro-
tect small businesspeople and the general
public from those few gun dealers who are too
irresponsible to comply with the law.

Ms. JACKSON-LEE of Texas. Mr. Speaker,
| appreciate this opportunity to explain my
concerns with the bill, H.R. 5092. My primary
concern with the bill is that it hampers the abil-
ity of the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Fire-
arms, and Explosives (BATF) to put corrupt
gun dealers out of business, and thus help re-
duce the carnage taking place in many of the
Nation’s major urban centers.

H.R. 5092 was introduced by Mr. COBLE and
Mr. SCOTT as a bipartisan attempt to address
enforcement issues raised during ATF over-
sight hearings conducted by the Judiciary
Subcommittee on Crime, Terrorism, and
Homeland Security. Specifically, those hear-
ings focused on ATF’s Richmond gun show
enforcement program and generally on ATF’s
licensing and revocation authority over Federal
Firearms Licensees.

The bill addresses a number of issues relat-
ing to ATF’s enforcement authority, including
authorization of civil penalties (e.g., fines and
suspensions); creation of independent Admin-
istrative law Judges to hear enforcement
cases; definition of serious and non-serious
violations; DOJ Inspector General investigation
of ATF gun show enforcement program; limita-
tion on ATF authorities; clarification of several
enforcement regulations; and, most signifi-
cantly, modification of the requisite intent for
violations.

The bill provides in Sec. 4, entitled “Defini-
tion of Willfully,” that “willfully” is defined as:
“intentionally, purposely, and with the intent to
act in violation of a known legal duty.

My concern with this provision of the bill is
that it defines “willfully” to impose a much
higher standard of proof upon law enforce-
ment officials than currently. There does not
appear to be any compelling reason for in-
creasing the government’s evidentiary burden
at this time. The definition of willfullness is
well-settled in the law and means that defend-
ant knew his conduct was unlawful; not that
he knew of the specific statute he is accused
of violating or had the specific intent to violate
that precise provision.

Mr. Speaker, changing the evidentiary
standards governing elements of penal of-
fenses should be done sparingly and with the
utmost care. This is particularly true where, as
here, we do not have the benefit of the con-
sidered views of thoughtful criminal law schol-
ars, experienced prosecutors and police offi-
cers with front-line experience, or the Depart-
ment of Justice.

The redefinition of “willfully” contained in the
bill illustrates my concern. As | noted, the bill
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defines willfully as “intentionally, purposely,
and with the intent to act in violation of a
known legal duty.” This definition, however,
has been repeatedly rejected by the Federal
courts. Bryan v. U.S., 524 U.S. 184 (1998);
U.S. v. Andrade, 135 F.3d 104 (1st Cir. 1998);
U.S. v. Allah, 130 F.3d 33 (2d Cir. 1997); U.S.
v. Collins, 957 F.2d 72 (2d. 1992)

In the Bryan case, the defendant was con-

victed of willfully dealing in firearms without a
Federal license. Specifically, the defendant did
not have a Federal firearms license; he used
“so-called “straw purchasers” in Ohio to ac-
quired pistols he could not have bought him-
self; that he knew the straw purchasers made
false statements when purchasing the guns;
that defendant assured the straw purchasers
that he would file off the serial numbers; and
that defendant resold the guns on Brooklyn
street corners known for drug dealing. Despite
this conduct, defendant claimed that he could
not be convicted under the Federal firearms
laws unless the government proved he knew
of the Federal licensing requirement. The Su-
preme Court rejected this claim, stating:
‘‘the willfulness requirement . .. does not
carve out an exception to the traditional
rule that ignorance of the law is no excuse;
knowledge that the conduct is unlawful is all
that is required.”” 524 U.S. at 193.

Similarly, in another case, U.S. v. Collins,
the Second Circuit rejected the argument that
willfully requires proof that defendant had spe-
cific knowledge of the Federal firearms license
requirements, stating:

“[Tlhe element of willfulness not con-
tained in §922(a)(1) was meant to be read
broadly to require only that the government
prove that defendant’s conduct was knowing
and purposeful and that the defendant in-
tended to commit an act which the law for-
bids.”” 957 F.2d at 76.

According to the court, the government was
not required to prove more than just the de-
fendant’s general knowledge that he or she is
violating the law.” Id. at 75.

Other courts have reached similar conclu-
sions and | list them in my statement. The
point, Mr. Speaker, is that the Federal firearms
license statute is and has been an important
tool for law enforcement to crack down on the
illegal trafficking in firearms and the wanton vi-
olence this conduct exacerbates. | do not be-
lieve that a compelling case has been made
on this record to take this tool away from law
enforcement. Neither does the American Bar
Association nor several former directors of the
ATF. Therefore, | would urge my colleagues to
vote against the bill.

Mr. VAN HOLLEN. Mr. Speaker, I
yield back the balance of my time.

Mr. SENSENBRENNER. Mr. Speak-
er, I yield back the balance of my time.

The SPEAKER pro tempore. The
question is on the motion offered by
the gentleman from Wisconsin (Mr.
SENSENBRENNER) that the House sus-
pend the rules and pass the bill, H.R.
5092, as amended.

The question was taken.

The SPEAKER pro tempore. In the
opinion of the Chair, two-thirds of
those present have voted in the affirm-
ative.

Mr. VAN HOLLEN. Mr. Speaker, on
that I demand the yeas and nays.

The yeas and nays were ordered.

The SPEAKER pro tempore. Pursu-
ant to clause 8 of rule XX and the
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Chair’s prior announcement, further
proceedings on this question will be
postponed.

————
AUTHORIZING SALARY ADJUST-
MENTS FOR JUSTICES AND

JUDGES OF THE UNITED STATES

Mr. SENSENBRENNER. Mr. Speak-
er, I move to suspend the rules and
pass the bill (H.R. 5454) to authorize
salary adjustments for Justices and
judges of the United States for fiscal
year 2007.

The Clerk read as follows:

H.R. 5454

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Rep-
resentatives of the United States of America in
Congress assembled,

SECTION 1. AUTHORIZATION OF SALARY ADJUST-
MENTS FOR FEDERAL JUSTICES AND
JUDGES.

Pursuant to section 140 of Public Law 97—
72, Justices and judges of the United States
are authorized during fiscal year 2007 to re-
ceive a salary adjustment in accordance with
section 461 of title 28, United States Code.

The SPEAKER pro tempore. Pursu-
ant to the rule, the gentleman from
Wisconsin (Mr. SENSENBRENNER) and
the gentleman from Maryland (Mr. VAN
HOLLEN) each will control 20 minutes.

The Chair recognizes the gentleman
from Wisconsin.

GENERAL LEAVE

Mr. SENSENBRENNER. Mr. Speak-
er, I ask unanimous consent that all
Members may have 5 legislative days
within which to revise and extend their
remarks and include extraneous mate-
rials on H.R. 5454 currently under con-
sideration.

The SPEAKER pro tempore. Is there
objection to the request of the gen-
tleman from Wisconsin?

There was no objection.

Mr. SENSENBRENNER. Mr. Speak-
er, I yield myself such time as I may
consume.

Mr. Speaker, I rise in support of H.R.
5454, to provide a cost-of-living adjust-
ment for Federal judges in fiscal year
2007.

In 1975, Congress enacted the Execu-
tive Salary Cost of Living Adjustment
Act to give judges and Members of Con-
gress and high-ranking executive
branch officials automatic COLAs ac-
corded other Federal employees unless
rejected by Congress. In 1981, Congress
amended the statute by enacting sec-
tion 140 of Public Law 97-92, which re-
quires specific congressional authoriza-
tion to grant judges a COLA. The legis-
lation we consider today is substan-
tially similar to other cost-of-living in-
creases for Federal judges approved in
previous fiscal years.

Mr. Speaker, I believe in fairness,
which is why I introduced this bill to
ensure that Federal judges receive a
COLA when other civil servants, in-
cluding Members of Congress, receive
theirs. I urge Members to support this
legislation.

Mr. Speaker, I reserve the balance of
my time.

Mr. CONYERS. Mr. Speaker, I ask
unanimous consent to control the re-
mainder of the legislation under sus-
pension.
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